October 13, 1999

Southeastern Imaging

ATTN: Mr. Dinesh Bhatt, M.D.
President

319 Hospital Drive, Suite 208

Martinsville, VA 24112

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 45-25272-01/99-01
Dear Mr. Bhatt:

This refers to the inspection conducted on September 16, 1999, at your Martinsville, Virginia
facility. The purpose of the inspection was to determine whether activities authorized by the
license were conducted safely and in accordance with NRC requirements. At the conclusion of
the inspection, the findings were discussed with you.

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license with respect to
radiation safety and compliance with NRC regulations and the conditions of your license. It
included selective examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with
personnel, and direct observations by the inspector. ‘

Based on the results of this inspection, the NRC has determined that one violation of NRC
requirements occurred. This violation is cited in the enclosed NRC Form 591, Part 1, Safety and
Compliance Inspection, which is a Notice of Violation (NOV). The inspector described this
violation to you at the conclusion of the inspection. Based upon our discussion with you
regarding corrective action to prevent re-occurrence of this violation, we understand that in the
future you will take alternative measures to ensure that licensed material shall be stored and
used only within location as authorized by your license.

You are not required to respond to this letter. However, you are required to read the Statement
of Corrective Actions at the bottom of the enclosed NRC Form 5391 and sign and date it at the
designated location. Please sign and date both-copies and return one of the signed forms to the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Region Il, 61 Forsyth Street SW, Suite 23T85, Atlanta,
Georgia, 30303, ATTN: Donna S. Moser.
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Southeastern Imaging

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC’s “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter and its

enclosure will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room.

Docket No. 030-33303
License No. 45-25272-01

Enclosure: NRC Form 591

cc w/encl:
Commonwealth of Virginia

Distribution w/encl:
PUBLIC
RIl Docket File, DNMS

Sincerely,
| S|
Thomas R. Decker, Chief

Materials Licensing/Inspection Branch 1
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

[OFFICE __ TRILDNMS
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. WN'RC FORM 591 PART 1 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION]
8-1997 .
go CFR)2.201 \
- SAFETY AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION
T LICENSEE 2. REGIONAL OFFICE
Southeast.ern In}agmg . REGION Il
319 Hospital Drive, Suite 208 US NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
Martinsville, VA 24112 ATLANTA FEDERAL CENTER
61 FORSYTH ST SW STE 23785
REPORT NUMBER(S) 99_01 ATLANTA GA 30303-3415
3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
030-33303 45-25272-01 9/16/99
LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

D 1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.
D 2. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified,

non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s):

@ 3. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which is required to be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11.

License condition 10 A. states that license material shall be stored or used only in the licensee's mobile nuclear
medicine unit located on the properties of 314-C East Fairy Street, Martinsville, Virginia.

Contrary to the above license condition, on 9/16/99 the licensee indicated that technicum-99m doses were
administered in the offices located at 314-C Fairy Street instead of the mobile unit. In addition, the inspector
observed that radioactive waste was also stored for decay in the offices located at 314-C Fairy Street.

STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

| hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.

FITLE PRINTED NAME SIGNATURE DATE
LICENSEE
NRC INSPECTOR Donna S. Moser / ] 10/12/1999
|/ 4%%%><'2252?7ﬁ~
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10 CFR 2.201

SAFETY AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1. LICENSEE 2. REGIONAL OFFICE
Southeast.ern Infagmg . REGION i
319 Hospital Drive, Suite 208 US NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
Martinsville, VA 24112 ATLANTA FEDERAL CENTER
61 FORSYTH ST SW STE 23785
REPORT NUMBER(S)  99-01 ATLANTA GA 30303-3415
¥3 DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUWER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
030-33303 45-25272-01 9/16/99
LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

D 1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.

D 2. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were seff-identified,
non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, to
exercise discretion, were satisfied.

non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s):

@ 3. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
‘ cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which is required to be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11.

License condition 10 A. states that license material shall be stored or used only in the licensee's mobile nuclear
medicine unit located on the properties of 314-C East Fairy Street, Martinsville, Virginia.

Contrary to the above license condition, on 9/16/99 the licensee indicated that technicam-99m doses were
administered in the offices located at 314-C Fairy Street instead of the mobile unit. In addition, the inspector
observed that radioactive waste was also stored for decay in the offices located at 314-C Fairy Street.

STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS
| hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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LICENSEE ,
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